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4 Pierce Avenue

Pierce Avenue is a small street between Bridge and Waite Streets. To the west side of 

the street,  there is a row of uniform houses, numbers 2 to 10, and to the east side of the 

street, there is a compound belonging to National Grid. It’s located at the edge of the 

Bridge Street Neck Historic District of Salem; a neighborhood whose 400 years of 

occupation have seen it evolve from the location of the earliest Salem settlement to a 

residential and industrial neighborhood intimately related to transportation issues, such 

as the connection between Salem and Beverly, first via a ferry and later by a bridge, the 

development of Salem’s shipping industry, and the introduction of trains, streetcars, and 

automobiles. Throughout its history, Bridge Street Neck has housed farmlands, homes to 

wealthy merchants and sea captains, factories related to Salem’s maritime business and 

later tanning industry, and houses for the middle and working classes who worked in those 

industries.

 Figure 1: 4 Pierce Avenue, c. 2020. Salem Assesors Office
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Seventeenth Century

Long before the first Europeans arrived in Salem, the area was inhabited by the 

Naumkeag band of the Massachusett people. According to the 1985 Massachusetts Historical 

Commission’s report of Salem, the Naumkeag’s settlements would have been located in the 

mouths of the North, South, and Forest Rivers, making the Bridge Street Neck of Salem, 

a likely candidate for one of these settlements.1 It is in Massey’s Cove, today at the end 

of March Street, where the first English settlers, led by Roger Conant, landed. Though the 

exact location of this initial settlement hasn’t been determined, according to Salem historian 

Sidney Perley, the First Planters  built 19 cottages along the North River. These First Planters 

were also fishermen, using the coves in the area to anchor their boats, particularly Shallop 

Cove, now Collins Cove. They also used the marshes around Collins Cove to harvest reeds for 

thatching. This would make Bridge Street one of Salem’s oldest roads.2 Nevertheless, this first 

settlement would only last around 10 years. In 1628, John Endicott arrived on the ship Arbella 

and took control of the town, moving the community to the south. By 1634, the new town of 

Salem was organized around their first meeting house closer to the South River, where today 

the former Daniel Low & Co. building still stands, between Essex and Washington Streets, and 

this area was abandoned.  

Since the seventeenth century, Bridge Street (originally called Ferry Lane) has been the 

main thoroughfare connecting Salem with Beverly, initially via a ferry service whose landing 

was where today is Remond Park, and after 1788, by a bridge connecting both communities. 

Despite being the earliest settled place in Salem, throughout most of the colonial period, 

Bridge Street Neck remained largely underdeveloped, featuring mostly agricultural fields 

belonging to the First Planters, farm and country houses, orchards, and mills. 

Eighteenth Century

According to Perley’s research, by 1700 most of the land in the neck, including where 4 

Pierce Avenue stands today, belonged to the Skerry family, descendants of Henry Skerry, one 

of Salem’s first settlers. Between 1710 and 1730, Ephraim Skerry built his house on Conant 

Street. Though the house was demolished in 1990, archaeological excavations into the trash 

pits conducted before the construction of the Beverly-Salem bypass uncovered several utensils 

used both by the Skerry family (pipes, slipware, and creamware) and the Native Americans 

1    Massachussetts Historical Commission. MHC Reconnaissance Survey Town Report: Salem. (Boston, 1985.)
2    National Park Service. National Register of Historic Places: Bridge Street Neck Historic District, Salem (Essex County), MA. May, 
2002. Section 8, page 2.
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 Figure 2: A view of the Birdge Street Neck from William Freeman’s 1932 map of Salem in 1700, based on Sidney 
Perley’s research. 

who lived here before them (arrowheads, pottery).3 The Skerry family owned this land until 

1762 when Francis Skerry sold the land to Dudley Woodbridge.4  

Dudley Woodbridge was born in Salem in 1732, the son of Captain Benjamin Woodbridge 

and Mary Osgood (unrelated to the victim of the Salem Witch Trials). Dudley was a merchant 

involved in the growing Salem trade business. He married Dorcas March, from Boston, in 

1762. Around that same time, he acquired the Skerrys’ land. He died in 1799 without a 

will, leaving Dorcas as the administrator of his estate. Dorcas had to deal with splitting the 

inheritance among their children and settling all debts that Dudley and their youngest son, 

Joseph Jackson, had incurred. Dudley’s estate at the time was appraised at $14,325 ($357,246 

today), with a dwelling house valued at $5,000 (approximately $124,693 today).5 

3    Massachusetts Historical Commission. Uncovering Salem’s History at the Skerry House. https://www.sec.state.ma.us/mhc/mh-
carch/archresources/Uncovering_POSTER.pdf
4    Essex County Registry of Deeds (ECRD) Book 107, page 279, April 23, 1762.
5    Essex County, MA: Probate File Papers, 1638-1881. Probate of Dudley Woodbridge, 8 Nov 1799, case number 30543.
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Nineteenth Century

After the Revolution, Salem merchants took advantage of the newly available access to 

the rich trade of China and the East Indies. Through the 1790s and 1800s these merchants 

pioneered expeditions to the East Indies, China, and the North Pacific, transitioning Salem 

from a fishing port to a trade entrepôt and propelling its golden age. Salem became America’s 

most affluent city, being the hometown of America’s first millionaire, Elias Hasket Derby. 

Bridge Street Neck was equally affected by this increased wealth and the construction in 

1789 of the Beverly Bridge generated a new wave of development. During this time, Dorcas 

sold the land at the end of the neck to two newly wealthy merchants, Jerathmiel Peirce 

and Aaron Waite. Peirce and Waite’s lives mirrored those of other Salem merchants at the 

dawn of its golden age. They met each other as privateers during the Revolution, where 

they commanded the ship Greyhound. After the war, both men became business partners, 

owning around 10 ships that would sail to the East Indies, the most famous of which was the 

Friendship, whose replica is today anchored in the Salem National Maritime Site on Derby 

Street. Upon purchasing the field, Peirce and Waite started developing some wharves related 

to their business, though there aren’t any traces of that initial industry left, and by the 

mid-nineteenth century, the area was only an empty field.6 Nevertheless, for many decades, 

even after the land changed owners, this field would be known as Peirce and Waite’s field, 

remembering its previous owners. 

6    John Frayler, “Partners for Eternity,” Pickled Fish and Salted Provisions: Historical Musings of the Salem Maritime NHS, vol. 1, 
No. 7. (1991)

 Figure 3: Replica of Peirce and Waite’s ship, The Friendship, courtesy of Salem Maritime National Historic Site



6

With the arrival of the golden age, Salem’s wealthy merchants soon wished to move 

their homes away from the loud, crowded wharves along Derby Street into quieter places, 

eventually developing Chestnut Street and what today is the McIntire Historic District, named 

after Samuel McIntire, one of America’s first architects. But by 1800 the development of 

Chestnut Street was far from assured, and many wealthy captains looked for other alternatives. 

With its strategic position along a main road and its closeness to the water, Bridge Street Neck 

became a potential area of expansion for Salem’s elites. In fact, in 1809 one of Dudley’s sons, 

Captain Thomas March Woodbridge, hired McIntire to build him a house on the family land, 

at the intersection of March and Bridge Streets, hoping that other merchants would follow 

suit. The Thomas March Woodbridge House is still extant, being one of the best-preserved 

examples of McIntire’s Federal-style architecture in Salem.7  Unfortunately, the development 

of Bridge Street Neck into a fashionable neighborhood wasn’t meant to happen, as an article 

in the November 11, 1920 edition of Salem Evening News  explains:

“Pickmans, Crowninshields and Dodges had bought sites there. The harbor-view was 

alluring. A long double row of elm trees, two of which survive, had been set out and finally 

7    Northfields Preservation Associates. “SAL.2968: Thomas March Woodbridge House,” 1809. Massachusetts Historical Commis-
sion. MACRIS. https://mhc-macris.net/details?mhcid=sal.2968

 Figure 4: The Thomas March Woodbridge House at 48 Bridge Street.



7

Captain Woodbridge and a Richardson neighbor built the first two brick houses on opposite 

corners of March Street. But then came the hitch. Pickering Dodge reconsidered and decided 

on Chestnut Street as preferable and finally Dudley Pickman followed suit.” 8

Despite having land in this area, Jerathmiel Peirce also moved to the area around 

Chestnut Street, building his mansion on Federal Street. Today, his house, known as the 

Peirce-Nichols House, is owned by the Peabody Essex Museum. With the wealthy merchants 

moving west of Salem, Bridge Street Neck would retain its working-class character, housing 

farmers, blacksmiths, craftsmen, and factory workers. But the hints of what could have been 

remain in the naming of the streets. Today’s Pierce Avenue and Waite Street derive their 

names from the owners of this plot of land. The difference in spelling between Jerathmiel 

Peirce and Pierce Avenue could be attributed to a spelling error by the clerk who wrote down 

the name of the street, or to a common misconception of the pronunciation of that name. 

Even today, people still refer to the Peirce-Nichols House as Pierce-Nichols, so it ’s possible 

that when the developers registered the name of the street, they pronounced it as Pierce.  

Historically the area has also housed some industries. In the eighteenth century there 

were ropewalks along Bridge and Lemon Streets, where the workers would have used the 

nearby marshes for raw material.9 By the first half of the nineteenth century, most of the 

industries here were dedicated to supporting the maritime trade of Salem, like ship building 

and repair. A reflection of these developments in Salem’s fortune is the fact that most of the 

residences in the neighborhood were occupied by mariners.10 William Stickney and Thaddeus 

Gwinn owned several ropewalks across Bridge Street in the early 1800s. The long structures 

needed to make rope, some as long as 840 feet, stifled development in the area for a while. 

Though none of them exist today, their traces can be found in some overly long, narrow lots 

like the one at 56 Bridge Street.11  

One industry dedicated to the shipping fortunes of Salem was the Naumkeag Wharf and 

Whale Fishery Company, incorporated in 1833, which occupied the field of Peirce and Waite, 

bounded on the north by Bridge Street, and on the east and south by the sea. According to 

their act of incorporation, the Naumkeag Company intended to build wharves and warehouses 

in this area, hoping to manufacture “sperm candles, and any other manufactures connected 

8    Salem Evening News, November 11th, 1920
9    National Park Service. National Register of Historic Places: Bridge Street Neck Historic District, Salem (Essex County), MA. 
Section 7, page 20.
10    National Park Service. Section 8, page 3.
11    National Park Service. Section 8, page 4.
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with the whale fishery business.”12 Despite its  promising start, the company appeared 

too late to cash in on Salem’s wealth. In fact, in Henry McIntire’s 1851 map of Salem, the 

area still appears as “Peirce and Waite field”, and in L.R. Burleigh’s 1883 bird’s-eye view of 

Salem, the area behind the Gas Light Company still appears as an empty field, without 

any of the wharves and warehouses the Naumkeag Company intended to build. 

One of the reasons for the company’s lack of success could be linked to the changing 

fortunes of Salem. The disruptions of trade during the War of 1812 meant the initial decline 

of the port of Salem, and by the 1820s, the development of larger ships that couldn’t sail into 

Salem’s shallow port put an end to Salem’s golden age of navigation. Even though the port 

would remain busy through the nineteenth century, it transitioned from the hub of the East 

India trade back to fishing and the transportation of coal and wood for New England’s mills. 

Following the pattern of industrialization across New England, Salem itself would become the 

center of a growing leather and shoe-making industry. 

Bridge Street Neck would remain mostly residential, most of the mariners and merchants 

would move away, leaving behind a growing working class who found jobs in factories. During 

this period most of the houses in the neighborhood were built in the Greek-Revival Style, 

an expression of the new republic looking at ancient Rome and especially ancient Greece as 

examples of democracies and rejecting British influences in the Georgian and Federal styles. 

Initially, the main noticeable Greek-Revival element was the entrance of the houses, but by 

the mid-century, its most common characteristic was the typology of a two-and-a-half-

story, temple-front house. 

Bridge Street itself was mainly occupied with commercial buildings during the second 

half of the nineteenth century, while the waterfronts at both sides were populated with 

industrial buildings. Hopkin’s 1874 Atlas of Salem displays several industries along the railroad 

tracks on the waterfront by Collins Cove. Salem Lead Co. was located between Saunders 

and Pearl Streets. Bengal Bagging Company, later Lynch Brothers, the only leather factory 

in the neighborhood, was located on Skerry Street. The Wenham Lake Ice Company, had 

their warehouses along the rail tracks on March Street. The Eastern Railroad that connected 

Boston with Portland had its car shops on Lathrop and East Collins Streets. And, south of the 

bridge, where Pierce Street stands today, the Salem Gas Light Company had its powerplant. 

On April 4, 1850, the Salem Gas Light Company was organized, providing some stores in 

12    Boston: Secretary of the Commonwealth, “1833 Chap. 0168. An Act To Incorporate The Naumkeag Wharf And Whale Fishery 
Company.” Acts and Resolves Passed by the General Court, 1833, 755-757.
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 Figure 5: House at 12 Northey Street, an example of Greek-Revival vernacular architecture (Photographer: Lisa 
Mausolf, April 2001)
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downtown Salem with gas lighting for the first time on December 17. Their works and offices 

were located initially on Northey Street, but soon the high demand for gas lighting in Salem 

forced them to expand their operations, acquiring a portion of the field of Peirce and Waite 

where they established a lime kiln and a wharf. It's in this time that the future Pierce 

Avenue is first laid out as a private driveway to the company, as seen in Burleigh’s 1883 

bird’s-eye view of Salem. In the twentieth century, the company would transition from gas 

to electricity, abandoning its Northey Street offices and opening a new office building 

with a showroom closer to downtown, at 247 Essex Street, next door to Lappin Park 

(better known for the location Elizabeth Montgomery’s “Bewitched” statue and several 

popular restaurants).13 Eventually, the company would be absorbed by National Grid, 

which still owns the tract of land along Pierce Avenue.

The mid-nineteenth century also saw the introduction of railroads into the urban fabric. 

In 1838, the Eastern Railroad opened trips from Salem to Boston. Its tracks ran parallel to the 

North River, where today the commuter train runs. In 1848, the Essex Railroad introduced a 

line to Lawrence, connecting Salem with the main industrial centers in Massachusetts. 14

This increase in industrial activity brought an influx of workers into the city, which 

prompted the need for new affordable houses and infrastructure to support the growing 

population. By 1860, Arbella Street had been laid out. Burnside Street appeared in 1872. 

Lathrop and Beacon Streets, in 1874. During these decades, houses were built and moved to 

this area. In 1875, a new school was opened on Skerry Street to serve the new neighbors. But 

perhaps the biggest drive for development came with the arrival of the streetcars. 

The Salem Street Railroad Company was incorporated in 1862 as an operator of horse 

car railways systems. In 1863, the lines connected Salem with Peabody and Beverly. Of these 

two lines, the Beverly one ran in the middle of Bridge Street. The system of tramways soo n 

expanded to South Salem in 1864 and to North Salem in 1869. In 1875, the system was 

reorganized into the Naumkeag Street Railway Company, opening its first expansion to the 

Salem Willows. Thanks to this new form of transportation, access to the Willows became easier 

for tourists, increasing development in the area. The system of tram lines would continue to 

grow, eventually being incorporated into the larger Lynn & Boston Railroad Company in th e 

1890s which also coincided with the electrification of streetcars. 15   

13    Curley, Jerome. From Gas Light to Gulu. September 16, 2011. https://patch.com/massachusetts/salem/then-now-from-gas-light-
to-gulu
14    National Park Service. Section 8, page 4.
15    Ratliff, Jen, “Salem’s Street Railway” Archives and Special Collections Blog. Salem State University.  October 29th, 2020. https://
libguides.salemstate.edu/home/archives/blog/Salems-Street-Railway
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 Figure 6: View of the Bridge Street Neck neighborhood from L.R. Burleigh’s 1883 bird’s-eye view of Salem. The 
future Pierce Avenue appears in the bottom as the road that leads to the Gas Company.
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 Figure 7: View of Thorndike’s survey for Peirce and Waite fields featuring the proposed streets, including the 
land of the Gas Company, from the 1874 Atlas of Salem. 

While this was going on, the undeveloped land of Peirce and Waite’s Field remained in 

possession of two of the Naumkeag Company’s founders, Larkin Thorndike and Henry Read. 

By 1874, this area belonged to their heirs, among whom was George Larkin Thorndike. George 

L. Thorndike was born in Salem in 1827 and was a civil engineer. He was a U.S Army captain

in the Commissary of Subsistence for the Massachusetts Volunteers during the Civil War. At

some point, he moved to Boston where he made his fortune in real estate, developing lands

around East Boston and Arlington, eventually becoming an alderman of the city of Boston.16

Upon inheriting the lots in Salem from the elder Thorndike, George set to develop them

by surveying the lands and creating a master plan for the layout of new streets and lots,

starting with Ferry Street, Merrill Avenue, Waite Street, and Pierce Avenue. His original plan,

as it appears in the Salem Atlas of 1874, encompassed the whole area of the Gas Company,

probably thinking of acquiring those lands too for further development. Yet he seems to have

been unable to secure the purchase of the Gas Company lands since, according to the Salem

Atlas of 1897, by the time he sold the last parcels on Pierce Avenue to Perry Collier, the

development didn’t go past Waite Street.17

16    Richard Duffy, “History of Arlington Street Names: Thorndike Street,” The Arlington Advocate, February 23, 2011.
17    ECRD, book 1306, page 537, December 15, 1890.
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 Figure 8: Perry Collier ’s election button. Couresy of Historic Beverly.

Perry Collier

On December 15, 1890, George and his partners, Augustus L. Thorndike, and Grace T. 

Whittemore, sold “a certain parcel of land” in Salem to real estate developer Perry Collier. 

Perry was born in Salem on October 28, 1838. He married Emma Kimball, in Beverly, on 

October 23, 1878. According to the census of 1880, the couple lived in Beverly with Emma’s 

widowed mother, Alice Kimball, her uncle Alfred Foster, and their infant daughter, Alice. The 

census lists Collier ’s profession as a real estate agent, his office being located at 243 ½ Essex 

Street, Salem. On September 8, 1882, Perry and Emma’s second son, Franklin, was born in 

Beverly.18  

A look at the Essex County Registry of Deeds, reveals that through the 1880s and 1890s 

he bought, sold, and issued mortgages for several properties in Salem, Beverly, and Wenham. 

Collier was also involved in local politics in Beverly, becoming a selectman and later briefly 

serving as the fourth mayor of Beverly in 1889.19  

18     Year: 1880; Census Place: Beverly, Essex, Massachusetts; Roll: 527; Page: 463C; Enumeration District: 155; Salem Directory, 
1882-1883.   
19    Historic Salem, Inc. House Histories.   
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Being involved in real estate, Perry must have seen the possibilities of these undeveloped 

lands at the end of the Neck. He purchased lots nine, ten, and eleven, from Thorndike’s 

original plan, those along Pierce Avenue between Bridge and Waite Streets, and reorganized 

them into smaller lots comprising what today would be 19 and 21 Bridge Street and 2 

through 10 Pierce Avenue. In 1891, he and the Salem Gas Light Company successfully 

pet itioned the City Council to open the company’s driveway as a public road named 

Pierce Avenue.20 He proceeded to build all the houses along Pierce Avenue and sold 

them between 1892 and 1893. This would make these houses one of the earliest 

examples of planned real estate urban development in Salem.  

The houses belong to a vernacular style of architecture featur ing a two-by-two bay 

with a one-and-a-half-gabled story that forms a front pediment, characteristic of the Greek 

Revival style, a door to the left under an open hood, and a bay front window to the right 

(except 10 Pierce Avenue which presents a mirrored floor plan). There are two sash 

windows on the second story and a slim central chimney.  Though all the houses have 

been expanded and modified by later owners, their initial uniformity remains visible, 

especially on the facades.21

20    Salem City Council, Salem City Records, 1891-1892 Vol. 17, pp. 3, 11, 22, 45, 71.
21    Northfields Preservation Associates. “SAL.DF: Pierce Avenue Streetscape,” 1989. Massachusetts Historical Commission. MAC-
RIS. https://mhc-macris.net/details?mhcid=SAL.DF

 Figure 9: Historical Pierce Avenue streetscape
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 Marden Family

On July 17, 1893, Perry sold the property at 4 Pierce Avenue to Minnie Marden. Minnie 

was born Minnie Donovan in Massachusetts in 1864 and resided in Cambridge. She was 

married to Fred Marden. Frederic was born in Epsom, New Hampshire, in 1863 to Rufus 

Marden and Jane Cass. According to the 1880 census, when he was 17 years old, he was 

living with his parents in Epsom and working in a box factory. 22 Since the 1850s, one of th e 

most common North Shore and New Hampshire occupations was the making of shoes. As the 

population increased, so did the demand for footwear. With the arrival of new machinery, 

shoe manufacturing became one of the first industries to focus on mass production. By 1881, 

the Epsom Shoe and Box Factory was incorporated. 23  It ’s possible that Fred worked in that 

factory, or in one of the four shoe factories in the neighboring town of Northwood. At some 

point, Fred met Minnie Donovan, and the couple married in Epsom, in 1885. By 1887 they 

were expecting their first child. Yet tragedy struck the couple when Minnie gave birth to a 

stillborn boy that November.24  The couple would try for another child, and on September 2, 

1891, Minnie gave birth to their only daughter, Nellie Lena Marden. 25  

Soon after Nellie’s birth, in 1893, the family decided to move to Salem. It was Minnie 

who led the purchase of the house at  4 Pierce Avenue from Perry Collier as stated in the 

1893 deed. To be able to afford the property, the couple acquired a mortgage from Nellie 

Greenough from Beverly. In the Salem directories of these years, Fred is described as a 

shoemaker, probably working in one of the many shoe factories and tanneries around Salem 

and Beverly. At some point, Fred joined the Olympic Boat Club, in nearby Ames Street, a sign 

of the Mardens' links to the community and his interest in boating. Yet tragedy would again 

strike the family.

On September 18, 1898, Fred and Nellie joined other members of the Olympic Boat 

Club for a fish-fry on Eagle Island, off Salem’s coast. At around 3:30 pm, Fred and a friend, 

Horace Sandborn, from Beverly, decided to take Horace’s green dory and head to Misery 

Island. Nellie stayed behind with the other children, probably looking at the green dory as it 

sailed past House Island, not knowing this would be the last time she would see her father. 

When she arrived home at six that evening, her father hadn’t come back yet, though neither 

she nor Minnie were particularly worried by Fred’s absence. It was only the next day, when 

22    Year: 1880; Census Place: Epsom, Merrimack, New Hampshire; Roll: 766; Page: 262B; Enumeration District: 177
23    Epsom Historical Association, History of the Shoe Factory Company, the building and the people associated with it, https://
www.epsomhistory.com/epsom/history/shoefactory.html accessed December 2023
24    New Hampshire Archives and Records Management; Concord, New Hampshire; New Hampshire Death Records, 1650-1969 
25    Birth Certificates, 1631-1919; Archive: New Hampshire Department of State; Location: Concord, New Hampshire; Credit: The 
Original Document May Be Seen At the New Hampshire Department of State
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 Figure 10: Article from the September 21, 1898 edition of Salem Evening News detailing the dissapereance of 
Fred Marden and Horace Sandborn.
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Minnie read in the news that a green dory had been found capsized off House Island, that she 

began to fear the worst.26 By Tuesday the 20th, as the Salem Evening News  reports, a search 

and rescue operation was underway, looking for Fred and Horace, hoping the men had been 

stranded on an island. Yet as the hours went on, it became increasingly likely that both men 

had drowned. 27 The bodies were never found, and by October, with no sign of the men, a 

coroner had to confirm Fred’s death, leaving Nellie fatherless and Minnie a widow. 28  

Despite this tragedy, Minnie continued raising her daughter and managing the house 

at 4 Pierce Avenue. To make ends meet, she started renting some rooms in the house. The 

Salem Atlas of 1911 displays an expansion to the rear of the house that wasn’t present in 

1897, perhaps Minnie built it following Fred’s death to have more room for boarders. The US 

census points out that by 1900, Minnie and Nellie were sharing the house with two 

boarders, Charles Marsh, a widowed painter, and George  Smith, a teamster. By that point, 

according to the census, she had also paid back Nellie Greenough the mortage debt she 

owed.29  But Minnie wouldn’t remain in that house for much longer. In 1904, she sold the 

property, yet she didn’t move too far. According to the 1910 census, Minnie and Nellie 

moved across Bridge Street, to 18b Thorndike Street.30 

In 1916, in Rockingham, Vermont, Nellie married Dennis William Heffernan, a 

stenographer.31  The couple had a child in 1917, Lois. But the newlywed couple would have 

little time together. In 1917, the United States declared war on Germany, entering World War 

I.  Dennis had to register for the draft. Being a young man, it ’s possible that he was drafted  

into the army for active duty. This seems likely because by 1920, Nellie appears living alone  

with Minnie and her two children, Lois and Alvin, in Lynn. 32  By 1930, the family was reunited,  

and Minnie, her daughter, son-in-law, and grandchildren were living together in 11 Beacon  

Street, back in the Bridge Street Neck neighborhood. Minnie eventually passed away on June  

9, 1954, at the age of 90 years old, and is buried in St. Mary’s Cemetery along with her  

grandchildren. 33

26    Salem Evening News, September 19, 1898, p. 1.
27    Salem Evening News, September 20, 1898, p. 1; September 21, 1898, p. 1.
28    New England Historic Genealogical Society; Boston, Massachusetts; Massachusetts Vital Records, 1840???1911
29    Year: 1900; Census Place: Salem Ward 2, Essex, Massachusetts; Roll: 647; Page: 1; Enumeration District: 0445
30    Year: 1910; Census Place: Salem Ward 2, Essex, Massachusetts; Roll: T624_587; Page: 18b; Enumeration District: 0458; FHL 
microfilm: 1374600
31    Vermont State Archives and Records Administration; Montpelier, Vermont
32    Year: 1920; Census Place: Lynn Ward 3, Essex, Massachusetts; Roll: T625_693; Page: 7A; Enumeration District: 149
33    Ancestry.com. U.S., Find a Grave® Index, 1600s-Current [database on-line]. Lehi, UT, USA: Ancestry.com Operations, Inc., 
2012.
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Perkins Family

Minnie sold the house in July 1904 to Willian M. Perkins; members of the Perkins 

family would then own the property for 68 years, becoming the longest residents at  4 

Pierce Avenue to date. William McNeil Perkins was born in Fryeburg, Maine, in 1868 to Paul 

and Isadora Perkins. A carpenter by trade, he married in  1898, in Beverly, to Mary Shoules, 

with whom he already had a daughter, Vera.34  After Vera, the couple went on to have three 

more children, another daughter, Doris, and two sons, Walter and Charles. According to 

the 1900 census, the family initially lived at 13 Bridge Street (the house has since been 

replaced by a Ninety-Nine Restaurant), in Salem.35  But soon after the birth of their 

youngest child, Charles, in 1903, they decided to move just a few feet down the street 

to Pierce Avenue, purchasing the property from Minnie Marden. According to the 1910 

census, the family of six lived at 4 Pierce Avenue along with a boarder, George Mecher.36

In 1917, with the entry of the United States into the First World War, Walter, being 19 

at the time, had to register for the draft, just like Dennis Hefferman, though it’s unlikely he 

was ever conscripted. By that time, according to his draft card, Walter was working as a 

machinist for Reid Brothers Co. Inc., at 59 Park Street, Beverly; a company that produced 

machinery 

34    New England Historic Genealogical Society; Boston, Massachusetts; Massachusetts Vital Records, 1911–1915
35    Year: 1900; Census Place: Salem Ward 2, Essex, Massachusetts; Roll: 647; Page: 1; Enumeration District: 0445
36    Year: 1910; Census Place: Salem Ward 2, Essex, Massachusetts; Roll: T624_587; Page: 10b; Enumeration District: 0459; FHL 
microfilm: 1374600

 Figure 11: Minnie Marden’s grave at St. Mary’s Cemetery. Courtesy of findagrave.com
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 Figure 12: Advertisement for Reid Brothers Company Inc. from 1974 Beverly directory.

 Figure 13: Walter Perkin’s masonic card.
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for the local shoemaking industry.37  That same year, on December 13, William’s wife, Mary, 

passed away from a pulmonary edema. William, now a widower, remained in his house with 

his children. 

The decade of the 1920s involved several more changes to the Perkins household. 

Sometime in that decade, Walter William Perkins married a neighbor girl, Florence Engdahl, 

whose brother worked with Walter at Reid Bros. According to the 1930’s census, they were 

living at the Engdahl’s residence at 10 Pierce Avenue. Walter and Florence would have no 

children. The couple eventually moved to Beverly where Walter became a member and 

eventually president of the local Masonic lodge. 38  He continued working for Reid Brothers 

Co. being promoted to general manager and finally president. He would eventually retire to 

Sarasota, Florida, where he passed away in 1984 and is buried in the Perkins family plot in 

Greenlawn Cemetery, Salem, along with his parents, siblings, and wife. 39    

Vera Ardet Perkins, the eldest child, entered into domestic service, initially working as 

a housekeeper for George Vickery, in The Willows neighborhood;40 and eventually moving to 

Wenham to work for an elderly couple, Andrew and Elizabeth Reid. At that time women working 

as house staff were expected to remain single and dedicate their time to their employers, 

even living in their houses or close by. Perhaps because of this, Vera never married. 

In 1922, William’s youngest son, Charles Albert Perkins, passed away from endocarditis 

at only 19 years old.41  The next year, in 1923, William’s daughter, Doris, who at the time was 

working as a clerk, married Charles Gordin Eldridge42  who moved in with the Perkins family. 

He was an auto-mechanic and chauffeur who worked for Doyle’s Garage at 39 Bridge Street, 

a building that still functions as an auto body repair shop. On September 4, 1926, Doris gave 

birth to the couple’s only son, Charles William Eldridge. 

Charles’ job as an auto-mechanic in the neighborhood responds to an important change 

that was affecting Bridge Street. The streetcar service was coming to an end by this time, 

37    Vintage Machinery, Reid Brothers Co., Inc. July 26, 2021. http://vintagemachinery.org/mfgindex/detail.aspx?id=3348&tab=0 
accessed on January 4, 2024
38    Ancestry.com. Massachusetts, U.S., Mason Membership Cards, 1733-1990 [database on-line]. Provo, UT, USA: Ancestry.com 
Operations, Inc., 2013. Original data: Massachusetts Grand Lodge of Masons Membership Cards 1733–1990. New England Histor-
ic Genealogical Society, Boston, Massachusetts.
39    Ancestry.com. U.S., Find a Grave® Index, 1600s-Current [database on-line]. Lehi, UT, USA: Ancestry.com Operations, Inc., 
2012
40  Year: 1940; Census Place: Salem, Essex, Massachusetts; Roll: m-t0627-01589; Page: 13B; Enumeration District: 5-361  
41    “Massachusetts State Vital Records, 1841-1925”, database with images, FamilySearch (https://www.familysearch.org/
ark:/61903/1:1:6ZF3-YWBQ : 16 November 2022), Charles Albert Perkins, 1922.
42  “Massachusetts State Vital Records, 1841-1925”, database with images, FamilySearch (https://www.familysearch.org/
ark:/61903/1:1:6CYY-KX3W : 4 January 2023), Doris E Perkins in entry for Charles G Eldridge, 1923.  
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 Figure 14: Certificate of marriage between Charles G. Eldridge and Doris E. Perkins, July 17, 1923.

 Figure 15: Advertisement for Doyle’s Garage, from 1917 Salem directory.
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giving way to the new automobiles. All over Salem and other cities in America, rail tracks 

were being replaced with wide asphalt roads. The impact of the automobile would not only 

affect the transportation around Bridge Street Neck, but also the neighborhood itself as the 

new vehicles needed new infrastructure to support them. In the 1920s, former industrial 

structures were replaced with auto-repair shops, auto-service stations, and gas stations. The 

old train car shops of the Eastern Railroad (later owned by the Boston & Maine Railroad) were 

converted into an “auto-fill” station.43 

Though there aren’t any marriage records available, sometime in the second half of the 

1920s, William took as a second wife Alice Story, a single mother. By 1930, William, Alice, and 

Alice’s daughter, Nellie, were renting a house in Hamilton. William remained in possession 

of 4 Pierce Avenue, letting Doris and Charles live there. William returned to Salem in 1933, 

living with his daughter and son-in-law. Interestingly, initially, he only brought Nellie with 

him, who stayed with them as a boarder, working as a dressmaker.44 The next year, Nellie, 

Doris, and Charles moved out of 4 Pierce Avenue, while Alice finally moved in with William. 

Their life together would be short though, since Alice passed away in 1939.45 

Doris and Charles’ marriage wouldn’t last long either, though for different circumstances. 

By 1940 (and perhaps as early as 1934, when they moved out of William’s house), the couple 

had separated. Charles was renting a house in Lynn and working as a truck driver. At some 

point, he and Doris got a divorce and Charles ended up remarrying a woman named Thora.46 

As a single mother, Doris was forced to take a job to support herself and her son, so she also 

entered domestic service, initially working as a laundress before becoming a housekeeper. 

Due to the aforementioned limitations of house staff, Doris was unable to bring little Charles 

with her, and left him in the care of his grandfather and step-grandmother. 

William and Alice, while she was alive, agreed to take care of his only grandson, whom 

they helped raise while Doris worked.47 Charles will stay living with his grandfather until 

adulthood. He graduated high school in 1943, being described as “a sportsman through.”48  

Charles belonged to a generation that entered adulthood as the country plunged into World 

War II. Like many other boys his age, after finishing high school, Charles joined the war 

43    National Park Service. Section 8, page 10.
44   Salem Directory, 1933-1934. 
45   “Find A Grave Index,” database, FamilySearch (https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/1:1:66M9-L41W : 16 December 2021), 
Alice E Perkins, ; Burial, Salem, Essex, Massachusetts, United States of America, Greenlawn Cemetery; citing record ID 232332216, 
Find a Grave, http://www.findagrave.com. 
46  National Archives at Washington, DC; Washington, D.C.; Seventeenth Census of the United States, 1950; Year: 1950; Census 
Place: Salem, Essex, Massachusetts; Roll: 4629; Page: 19; Enumeration District: 5-405  
47    Year: 1940; Census Place: Salem, Essex, Massachusetts; Roll: m-t0627-01589; Page: 10A; Enumeration District: 5-333
48    Salem Classical and High School, Salem Highschool Yearbook, 1943. Page: 35.
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 Figure 16: Charles Eldridge’s picture from Salem Highshool Yearbook, 1943

 Figure 17: Charles Eldridge’s Honorable Discharge Car, June 17, 1946
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effort, enlisting in the US Navy, and being honorably discharged in 1946. 49 In 1949, after the 

war, Charles, now a machinist, married Nancy Smith and the couple moved out to Beverly, 

where they had two sons, Lester and William, the latter one probably named after Charles’ 

grandfather. William Perkins remained living alone at  4 Pierce Avenue, though he would 

take in some lodgers like Olive Hammett in 1950.50 

William passed away in 1951, after which his estate was inherited by his three remaining 

children. The city directories of that time indicate that Vera and Doris decided to live together 

in their late father  ’s house. By this point, Vera had retired from domestic service while Doris 

remained working as a housekeeper until 1964. The two elderly sisters led a quiet life for 

the next couple of decades until Vera passed away in 1969. Due to Vera’s passing, Walter 

transferred his ownership of the property to Doris in 1970, making her the sole owner. Sh e 

remained living alone for a couple more years before passing away in 1972. The property was 

inherited by her only son, Charles, who finally sold his childhood home to John and Stase 

Radzevicius, ending 68 years of ownership by the Perkins family. 51

Later Residents

John Harold Radzevicius was born in 1949 in Cambridge, in the United Kingdom, to 

Estonian (at the time part of the Soviet Union) immigrants. At some point, he and his parents  

emigrated to America.52 He attended high school in Salem where he played for the 

football team, graduating in 1966.53 By 1972, he and his mother, Stase “Stasi” decided to 

purchase 4 Pierce Avenue as an investment. Neither mother nor son lived there and the 

next year John transferred sole ownership of the property to his mother. The house 

remained vacant until Stasi finally sold the property to Richard and Dorothy Pelletier in 

1976. Later in life, John changed his last name to Ravich and lived in Peabody, where he 

died in 1995. Stasi would outlive him, eventually passing away in 2006.

Richard and Dorothy Pelletier lived at 4 Pierce Avenue for almost ten years. Richard was 

born in Peabody, in 1947, to Hector and Irene Pelletier. He went to school in Beverly, where 

in 1962 he graduated wanting to become a metal sheet estimator, heading straight to work 

49    National Archives at St. Louis; St. Louis, Missouri; Draft Registration Cards For Massachusetts, 10/16/1940-03/31/1947; Record 
Group: Records of the Selective Service System, 147; Box: 297
50   National Archives at Washington, DC; Washington, D.C.; Seventeenth Census of the United States, 1950; Year: 1950; Census 
Place: Salem, Essex, Massachusetts; Roll: 5754; Page: 23; Enumeration District: 5-376 
51   ECRD Book 5886, page 341, July 17, 1972. 
52   Ancestry.com. U.S., Social Security Applications and Claims Index, 1936-2007 [database on-line]. Provo, UT, USA: Ancestry.
com Operations, Inc., 2015. 
53  Salem Classical and High School, Salem Highschool Yearbook, 1966. Page: 67.  
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 Figure 18: John Radzevicius’s picture from Salem Highshool Yearbook, 1966

 Figure 19: Richard Pelletier ’s picture from Beverly Highschool Yearbook: Beverlega 1962

for the General Electric Company’s plant in River Works, Lynn.54 He married Dorothy Bouchard 

in 1969.55 The couple first lived at 60 Perkins Street, before they purchased 4 Pierce as their 

first home. According to financial records, between 1979 and 1980, the couple engaged in 

extensive renovations to the kitchen area and installed an aluminum trim to the windows. 56 

By 1983, Richard and Dorothy decided to sell 4 Pierce Avenue and move out.

54   “U.S., School Yearbooks, 1880-2012”; School Name: Beverly High School; Year: 1962 
55   Ancestry.com. Massachusetts, U.S., Marriage Index, 1901-1955 and 1966-1970 [database on-line]. Provo, UT, USA: Ancestry.
com Operations, Inc., 2013.
Original data: Department of Public Health, Registry of Vital Records and Statistics. Massachusetts Vital Records Index to Marriag-
es [1916–1970]. Volumes 76–166, 192– 207. Facsimile edition. Boston, MA: New England Historic Genealogical Society, Boston, 
Massachusetts. 
56    ECR Book 6600, page 670, June 13, 1979; Book 6712, page 398, June 26, 1980.
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Conclusion

The Bridge Street Neck neighborhood has a rich history linked to its role as a connection 

between Salem and Beverly. Transportation has played a vital role in the development of the 

neighborhood, since the arrival of the First Planters and the ship Arbella, to the arrival of 

trains, streetcars, and automobiles. While the neighborhood is related to the oldest families 

of Salem and the wealthy merchant class, its growth is attributed to the working-class families 

who moved here looking for opportunities in Salem’s industry.

The house at  4 Pierce is relatively recent, being built around 1891. Yet it reflects the 

rich history of the Bridge Street Neck neighborhood. Even the street its built on gets its name 

from the old merchants who owned land in this place. It was built to house the working 

families looking to move Salem’s industry, and through its short history, it has housed 

shoemakers, widowed mothers, boarders, carpenters, domestic workers, auto-mechanics, 

veterans, the elderly, and immigrants; each leaving their mark in the house. 
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Chain of Deeds
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Chain of Title, 4 Pierce Avenue, Salem, Essex County, Massachusetts 

Date Conveyed 
by 

Conveyed to Property Amount Doc Book Page 

15 Dec 
1890 

George L. 
Thorndike, 
Augusts L. 
Thorndike, 
and Grace 
T. 
Whittemore 

Perry Collier “certain parcel 
of land 
situated in 
Salem, in said 
Essex county, 
being lots 
numbered 
nine, ten and 
eleven of a 
plan of Pierce 
and Wait field 
Salem by 
George L. 
Thorndike, 
surveyor” 

“For 
consideration 
of one dollar 
and other 
valuable 
considerations 
paid” 

Deed 1306 537 

17 Jul 
1893 

Perry 
Collier 

Minnie 
Marden 

“a certain 
parcel of land 
with the 
dwelling house 
and all other 
buildings 
thereon” 

“For 
consideration 
of one dollar 
and other 
considerations 
paid” 

Deed 1383 524 

15 Jul 
1904 

Minnie 
Marden 

William M. 
Perkins 

“a certain 
parcel of land 
with the 
dwelling house 
and all other 
buildings 
thereon” 

“For 
consideration 
of one dollar 
and other 
valuable 
considerations 
paid” 

Deed 1748 185 

22 Jun 
1970 

Walter M. 
Perkins 
(heir of 
Willaim M. 
Perkins) 

Doris E. 
Eldridge 

“The land in 
the city of 
Salem together 
with the 
buildings 
thereon” 

“For 
consideration 
paid” 

Deed 5693 436 
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17 Jul 
1972 

Charles W. 
Eldrige 
(exec. of 
the estate 
of Doris E. 
Eldridge) 

John H. and 
Stase 
Radzevicius 

“The land in 
Salem, Essex 
County, 
Massachusetts, 
together with 
the buildings 
thereon” 

$16,000.00 Deed 5886 341 

28 Nov 
1973 

John H. 
Radzevicius 

Stase 
Radzevicius 

“The land in 
Salem, 
Massachusetts, 
Essex County, 
together with 
the buildings 
thereon” 

$1.00 Deed 6031 234 

30 Jan 
1976 

Stase 
Radzevicius, 
a/k/a Stasi. 

Richard P. 
and Dorothy 
A. Pelletier 

“The land in 
said Salem 
with the 
buildings 
thereon” 

$25,000.00 Deed 6214 512 

30 Aug 
1984 

Richard P. 
and 
Dorothy A. 
Pelletier 

Leonard E. 
and Leigh A. 
Tremblay 

“The land in 
said Salem 
with the 
buildings 
thereon” 

$73,000.00 Deed 7508 326 

14 Oct 
1988 

Leonard E. 
and Leigh 
A. Tremblay 

Jo Connolly “The land in 
Salem with the 
buildings 
thereon” 

$155,000.00 Deed 9740 295 

24 Sep 
1999 

Jo C. 
Steward, 
f/k/a Jo 
Connolly 

Arben and 
Fatmira 
Celiku 

“The land in 
Salem with the 
buildings 
thereon” 

$157,000.00 Deed 15966 556 

14 Nov 
2022 

Arben and 
Fatmira 
Celiku 

Paden and 
Brittany 
Hadzy 

“The land in 
Salem, Essex 
County, 
Massachusetts, 
with the 
buildings 
thereon” 

$505,000.00 Deed 41300 071 
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Historic Name: Pierce Avenue Streetscape
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Users of this digital material acknowledge that they have read and understood the MACRIS Information and Disclaimer (http://mhc-
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Lots 10 & 11 in Bridge Street with Pierce Avenue- Salem Atlas 1874-Plate E
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“F.M. Marden” in 4 Pierce Avenue, and “W.M. Perkins” at 13 Bridge Street- Salem Atlas 1897-Plate 10
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“Wm. M. Perkins” in 4 Pierce Avenue- Salem Atlas 1911-Plate 08
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Marriage record of Fred Marden and Minnie Donovan.
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Death record of Fred and Minnie Marden’s stillborn son



44

Birth record of Fred and Minnie Marden’s unnamed daughter (Nellie).
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Death record of Fred Marden as “accidental drowning.”
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Marriage certificate of Dennis Hefferman and Nellie Marden.

Dennis Hefferman’s WWI draft card.
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Mary Shoules Perkins’ 1917 death certificate



48

Charles Perkins’ 1922 death certificate
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Walter Perkins’ WWI draft card

Charles G. Eldridge WWI draft card.
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Grave of the Perkins family: William, Mary, Alice, Charles, Vera, Walter,Florence, and Doris. Greenlawn Cemetery. 
Courtesy of findagrave.com
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Receipt of Richard and Dorothy Pelletier ’s kitchen remodeling at 4 Pierce Avenue.
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